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PARTIES 

1. Plaintiff NII is a Delaware corporation having its principal office located at 

Wrentham, Massachusetts 02093.  

2. Plaintiff RF-CUNY is a New York not-for-profit educational corporation 

having its principal office located at 230 West 41st St., 7th Floor, New York, New York 

10036. 

3. On information and belief, Defendant Christie Medical is a California 

corporation with a principal place of business at 10550 Camden Drive, Cypress, CA 90630. 

4. On information and belief, Defendant Christie Digital is a California 

corporation with a principal place of business at 10550 Camden Drive, Cypress, CA 90630. 

NATURE OF THE ACTION 

5. This is an action for patent infringement arising under the Patent Laws of the 

United States 35 U.S.C. §§ 1 et seq., including 35 U.S.C. § 271. 

6. On information and belief, Defendants have infringed and continue to infringe, 

contribute to the infringement of, and/or actively induce others to infringe Plaintiffs’ U.S. 

Patent No. 5,929,443 ("the ‘443 patent”). 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

7. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 

U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1338. 

8. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants because, on information 

and belief, Defendants do and have done substantial business in this judicial District, 

including: (i) committing acts of patent infringement and/or contributing to or inducing acts 

of patent infringement by others in this judicial District and elsewhere in this State; (ii) 

regularly conducting business in this State and judicial District; (iii) directing advertising to 

or soliciting business from persons residing in this State and judicial District through at 

least in-person sales efforts; and (iv) engaging in other persistent courses of conduct, and/or 

deriving substantial revenue from products and/or services provided to persons in this 

District and State.   
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9. Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391 and 1400(b). 

FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

10. Among other things, Plaintiff NII is a manufacturer of medical imaging 

technology products, such as the AVV-1 illumination device. The technology underlying 

the AVV-1 illumination device was invented at CUNY and assigned to Plaintiff RF-

CUNY.  

11. Plaintiffs have sought protection for their technological innovations, which has 

resulted in several issued patents, including the asserted ‘443 patent. 

12. The ‘443 Patent issued on July 27, 1999, and is titled “Imaging of Objects 

Based Upon the Polarization or Depolarization of Light.”  RF-CUNY is the owner by 

assignment of the ‘443 Patent, and NII the exclusive licensee. 

13. On information and belief, Defendants develop, market, and/or manufacture 

products for the medical industry, including the VeinViewer Vision, the VeinViewer 

Vision(XTND), and the VeinViewer Flex, all of which are devices to assist health care 

providers with obtaining peripheral vascular access.  

14. On information and belief, Defendant Christie Medical operates and maintains 

a website at www.christiedigital.com/en-us/medical/, where Christie’s products are 

marketed to consumers worldwide, and where Christie specifically instructs those 

customers on how to use those products.   

15. One of Defendants’ products is described and marketed as VeinViewer 

Vision.  The VeinViewer Vision is an exemplary product that infringes the ‘443 Patent and 

is referred to hereafter as the “VVV.”  On information and belief, the VeinViewer Vision 

(XTND) and the VeinViewer Flex likewise infringe the ‘443 Patent.   

COUNT ONE 

(Infringement of the ‘443 Patent against All Defendants – 35 U.S.C. §§ 271 et seq.) 

16. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference the foregoing paragraphs, as 

though fully set forth herein. 
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17. On information and belief, Defendants have had actual knowledge of the ‘443 

Patent.  Defendants acquired the rights to the infringing VeinViewer technology through 

their purchase of Luminetx, Inc. Luminetx was a company founded by Herbert D. Zeman, a 

developer of the original VeinViewer, and a named inventor on patents describing 

technology closely related to the technology that is described and claimed in the asserted 

‘443 patent.   

18. At least Dr. Zeman is aware, or should have been aware, of the ‘443 Patent 

and the intellectual property rights reflected therein.  One reason for this is that Dr. Zeman 

worked and lectured in a relatively small scientific community together with the inventors 

of the ‘443 Patent.  Researchers in these areas were generally aware of one another’s work, 

and – on information and belief – Dr. Zeman was well aware of the work of the inventors 

of the ‘443 patent, including being well aware of the ‘443 patent itself.  For similar reasons, 

Defendants are likewise well aware of the work of the inventors of the ‘443 patent, 

including being well aware of the ‘443 patent itself.   

19. Further confirming Christie’s awareness of the ‘443 patent is that NII emailed 

Defendants in January 2013 to explicitly inform them of their infringement. Defendants 

have thus had actual knowledge and/or constructive notice of the ‘443 patent since at least 

January, 2013 and – on information and belief – well prior to this date. 

20. Despite having full knowledge of the ‘443 patent, Defendants have directly 

infringed and continue to directly infringe one or more claims of the ‘443 Patent by 

developing, making, using, offering to sell, selling and/or importing, in this District, 

elsewhere in the United States, and internationally, at least the VVV and other similar 

products that infringe the ‘443 patent. On information and belief, these other similar 

infringing products include the VeinViewer Vision (XTND) and the VeinViewer Flex.   

21. In particular, Defendants have directly infringed the ‘443 patent by using the 

VVV to perform the following steps:  (a) illuminating with light either the surface of a 

turbid medium (such as human tissue) or an object (such as a blood vessel) within or 

behind the turbid medium, whereby light is backscattered from the illuminated surface or 
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object;  (b) detecting and separating with the VVV a pair of complementary polarization 

image components of the backscattered light; and (c) forming an image of the illuminated 

surface or object using the separated complementary polarization image components.   

22. Defendants have contributed to the infringement of and continue to 

contributorily infringe one or more claims of the ‘443 Patent by developing, making, using, 

offering to sell, selling and/or importing, in this District, elsewhere in the United States, 

and internationally the VVV.  In particular, Defendants developed, made, used, offered to 

sell, sold and/or imported, the VVV with full knowledge of the ‘443 patent and its 

applicability to the VVV.   

23. In addition, the VVV is not a staple article of commerce and has no substantial 

non-infringing use.  In particular, on information and belief, Defendants’ customers use the 

VVV solely in a manner the infringes the ‘443 patent, which includes the steps of using the 

VVV to (a) illuminate with light either the surface of a turbid medium (such as human 

tissue) or an object (such as a blood vessel) within or behind the turbid medium, whereby 

light is backscattered from the illuminated surface or object;  (b) detecting and separating 

with the VVV a pair of complementary polarization image components of the backscattered 

light; and (c) forming an image of the illuminated surface or object using the separated 

complementary polarization image components.  Using the VVV in this infringing manner 

is the only substantial use for the VVV.   

24. Defendants have induced infringement of and continue to induce infringement 

of one or more claims of the ‘443 Patent by developing, making, using, offering to sell, 

selling and/or importing, in this District and elsewhere in the United States, the VVV.  

Among other things, Defendants have – with full knowledge of the ‘443 patent and its 

applicability to the VVV – specifically designed the AAPS to be used in a manner that 

infringes the ‘443 patent and has specifically instructed their customers to use the VVV in 

this manner.  In particular, Defendants have specifically instructed its customers to use the 

VVV to perform the following steps:  (a) illuminating with light either the surface of a 

turbid medium (such as human tissue) or an object (such as a blood vessel) within or 



 

6
COMPLAINT 

 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

behind the turbid medium, whereby light is backscattered from the illuminated surface or 

object;  (b) detecting and separating with the VVV a pair of complementary polarization 

image components of the backscattered light; and (c) forming an image of the illuminated 

surface or object using the separated complementary polarization image components.  Such 

use directly infringes one or more claims of the ‘443 patent.   

25. One example of Defendants instructing their customers to use the VVV in a 

manner that infringes the ‘443 patent can be found at: http://www.christiedigital.com/en-

us/medical/education/product-videos/Pages/VeinViewer-Vision.aspx. 

26. Defendants’ actions constitute direct infringement, contributory infringement, 

and/or active inducement of infringement of one or more claims of the ‘443 Patent in 

violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271. 

27. NII and RF-CUNY have sustained damages and will continue to sustain 

damages as a result of Defendants’ aforesaid acts of infringement. 

28. NII and RF-CUNY are entitled to recover damages sustained as a result of 

Defendants’ wrongful acts in an amount to be proven at trial.   

29. Defendants’ infringement of NII’s rights under the ‘443 Patent will continue 

to damage NII and RF-CUNY’s business, causing irreparable harm, for which there is no 

adequate remedy at law, unless it is enjoined by this Court. 

30. In addition, Defendants have infringed the ‘443 patent – directly, 

contributorily, and by inducement – with full knowledge of the ‘443 patent and despite 

being notified that their actions constituted infringement of that patent.  For at least this 

reason, Defendants have willfully infringed the ‘443 Patent, entitling NII and RF-CUNY to 

increased damages under 35 U.S.C. § 284 and to attorney fees and costs incurred in 

prosecuting this action under 35 U.S.C. § 285. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs NII and RF-CUNY ask this Court to enter judgment in 

their favor and against Defendants Christie Medical Holdings, Inc. and Christie Digital 

Systems USA, Inc. and grant the following relief: 
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A. An adjudication that Defendants Christie Medical Holdings, Inc. and Christie 

Digital Systems USA, Inc. have willfully infringed and continue to infringe the ‘443 patent.  

B. Orders of this Court temporarily, preliminarily, and permanently enjoining 

Defendants Christie Medical Holdings, Inc. and Christie Digital Systems USA, Inc., their 

agents, servants, and any and all parties acting in concert with any of them, from directly or 

indirectly infringing in any manner any of the claims of the ‘443 patent pursuant to at least 

35 U.S.C. § 283;  

C. An award of damages adequate to compensate NII and RF-CUNY for 

Defendants Christie Medical Holdings, Inc.’s and Christie Digital Systems USA, Inc.’s 

infringement of the ‘443 patent in an amount to be proven at trial; 

D. A finding that this is an exceptional case and an award of Plaintiffs’ costs and 

attorney fees; 

E. A trebling of the damage award to Plaintiffs; 

F. An assessment and award of pre- and post-judgment interest on all damages 

awarded; and  

I. Any further relief that this Court deems just and proper. 

Dated: November 5, 2013 ONE LLP 

By: __________________________________ 
Nathaniel L. Dilger, Esq. 

     Ryan Abbott, MD, Esq. 
     Joseph K. Liu 

Attorneys for Plaintiffs, Near Infrared Imaging, 
Inc., and The Research Foundation of the City 
College of New York 
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DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury as to all claims and all issues properly triable 

thereby. 

Dated: November 5, 2013 ONE LLP 

By: __________________________________ 
Nathaniel L. Dilger, Esq. 

     Ryan Abbott, MD, Esq. 
     Joseph K. Liu 

Attorneys for Plaintiffs, Near Infrared Imaging, 
Inc., and The Research Foundation of the City 
College of New York 
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